
Page 1 of 3

Notice of Meeting 

Cabinet Member for All-Age 
Learning Decisions
Date & time Place Contact Chief Executive 
Tuesday, 9 June 
2020 at 3.30 pm

Remote Joss Butler
joss.butler@surreycc.gov.uk

Joanna Killian

Please note that due to the Covid-19 situation this meeting will take place remotely.

The webcast for the meeting can be viewed here:

https://surreycc.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts

Cabinet Member
Mrs Julie Iles (Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning)



Page 2 of 3

AGENDA

1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter 

i. Any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or 
ii. Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in respect of any 

item(s) of business being considered at this meeting

NOTES:
 Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item 

where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest
 As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any interest, of 

which the Member is aware, that relates to the Member’s spouse or 
civil partner (or any person with whom the Member is living as a 
spouse or civil partner)

 Members with a significant personal interest may participate in the 
discussion and vote on that matter unless that interest could be 
reasonably regarded as prejudicial.

2 PROCEDURAL MATTERS

a Members' Questions

The deadline for Members’ questions is 12pm four working days before 
the meeting (3 June 2020).

b Public Questions

The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting (2 
June 2020).

c Petitions

Notice of petition

Received from Mr Trevor Dale, 222 signatures.

Cranleigh C of E Primary School has been seriously neglected in terms of 
building fabric for many years. The roof has major leaks and windows do 
not adequately seal. Children and staff have been subjected to hazards 
and threats to safety, health and well-being for far too long. The current 
site has excellent space for outdoor play and educational activities 
including a small pond with aquatic life for experiential learning. There is 
ample space for building additional facilities to bring the existing infant’s 
school onto the same site thus providing considerable savings in staff and 
running costs. The sale of the infant’s site would provide money to fund 
the improvements which are long overdue. 



Page 3 of 3

3 CHARGING FOR HOME TO SCHOOL/COLLEGE TRAVEL 
ASSISTANCE FOR POST 16 LEARNERS WITH SEND

The purpose of this report is to ask the Cabinet Member for All-Age 
Learning to re-consider the introduction of charging for Post 16 home to 
school/college travel assistance for young people with special educational 
needs and disabilities (SEND) who are beginning new courses in 
academic year 2020/21, and for young people with SEND who are 
continuing courses in academic year 2020/21.  On 28 November 2017, the 
Cabinet agreed a draft policy document which contained a provision which 
provided for charging a contribution towards home to school/college travel 
costs for eligible young people with an Education Health and Care plan 
(EHCP) aged 16-18 but decided not to make the charge in the 2018/19 
academic year. This was subject to review.  At the same time, Cabinet 
also delegated to the relevant Cabinet Member all decisions relating to its 
implementation.

The Cabinet Member is now asked to reconsider the matter and to agree 
the implementation of charging for post 16 SEND transport, agree the 
levels of charging and to agree in broad terms the level of need that may 
warrant any charges being waived. The levels of charging for 2020/21 are 
set out in paragraph 13, and the mitigations for those young people or 
families in severe financial hardship in paragraphs 16-20 of this report.

Joanna Killian
Chief Executive

Published: 9 June 2020



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL
 
CABINET MEMBER FOR ALL-AGE LEARNING

DATE: 9 June 2020

LEAD OFFICER:   Dave Hill, Executive Director for Children, Families, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture

SUBJECT: Charging for Home to School/College Travel Assistance for Post 
16 learners with SEND

COMMUNITY VISION OUTCOME: People 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE:

The purpose of this report is to ask the Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning to re-
consider the introduction of charging for Post 16 home to school/college travel 
assistance for young people with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 
who are beginning new courses in academic year 2020/21, and for young people 
with SEND who are continuing courses in academic year 2020/21.  On 28 November 
2017, the Cabinet agreed a draft policy document which contained a provision which 
provided for charging a contribution towards home to school/college travel costs for 
eligible young people with an Education Health and Care plan (EHCP) aged 16-18 
but decided not to make the charge in the 2018/19 academic year. This was subject 
to review.  At the same time, Cabinet also delegated to the relevant Cabinet Member 
all decisions relating to its implementation.

The Cabinet Member is now asked to reconsider the matter and to agree the 
implementation of charging for post 16 SEND transport, agree the levels of charging 
and to agree in broad terms the level of need that may warrant any charges being 
waived. The levels of charging for 2020/21 are set out in paragraph 13, and the 
mitigations for those young people or families in severe financial hardship in 
paragraphs 16-20 of this report.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning considers and 
takes into account the rationale for the implementation of charging a contribution for 
Post 16 travel assistance for SEND learners and the recommended charging levels, 
the equality impact assessment as well as the mitigations for young people or 
families in severe financial hardship and 

1. agrees to the implementation of charging for Post 16 travel assistance for 
learners with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) who are deemed 
eligible;

2. agrees to the proposed charges for academic year 2020/21, which are the 
same as for eligible Post 16 learners without an EHCP, and which are:

Page 5

Item 3



2.1 £547.20 for learners whose families are in receipt of the maximum 
Working Tax Credit and /or who continue to meet the eligibility criteria 
for Free School Meals; learners in care; care leavers; those on Income 
Support/Universal Credit in their own right; disabled young people who 
receive Employment Support Allowance/Universal Credit and either 
Disability Living Allowance or Personal Independence Payment in 
their name, or 

2.1  £756.20 for all other learners;

3. agrees the circumstances when the Council will consider delaying, reducing 
or waiving contributions for young people or families in severe financial 
hardship and the process for dealing with any such applications.  

4. notes and agrees minor grammatical amendments to the Council’s Home to 
School/College Travel and Transport Policy which was published in February 
2020 (paragraphs 21-22).

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:

The Council has a responsibility to meet its statutory duties related to home to school 
transport for eligible children and young people.  Travel assistance for Post 16 
learners is a discretionary provision and charging for it is permitted by law.   
Questions have been raised as to whether the decision taken by the Cabinet Member 
on 31 January 2020 to adopt the Home to School/College Travel and Transport 
Policy properly addressed the issue of charging. In order to address those questions, 
the Cabinet Member is now asked to reconsider the issue of charging afresh.

The proposed rates of financial contributions are reasonable when considered 
alongside the actual cost of providing the service and taking into account the fact that 
the charges are in line with those charged by other councils. Where there is severe 
financial hardship such that the charges are not affordable, the Council can use its 
discretion to delay, reduce or waive the charge.    To ensure the effective and 
sustainable delivery of the Council’s statutory responsibilities for home to school 
travel and transport for children and young people, changes have to be made.  
Surrey County Council has to make difficult choices in straitened financial 
circumstances in order to secure effective public spending and the efficient use of 
public resources. 

DETAILS:

Background to the decision:

1. The principle of charging for Post 16 transport has been considered by Cabinet 
on more than one occasion in recent years. On 24 May 2016, a report was 
taken to Cabinet which proposed an update to the SEND Post 16 travel 
assistance policy. This included a proposal to introduce charging for Post 16 
pupils with an EHCP from September 2016, but only for those who were 
starting in Year 12, i.e. not for those who were continuing a course of study. 
Charging would be exactly the same as for mainstream Post 16 pupils and the 
report acknowledged that this would ensure charging arrangements were 

Page 6



consistently applied. This report followed a 12 week period of consultation, 
including on the introduction of charging Post 16 pupils with an EHCP. In line 
with the requirements for Cabinet, an EIA was carried out and this covered the 
impact of introducing charging. Cabinet subsequently agreed the updated policy 
and the proposal to introduce charging.

2. During the 2016/17 academic year, a number of parents did not pay the charge 
and in June 2017 the Council made the decision to abandon the charge and 
reimburse any parent/student who had paid.

3. The issue of charging was considered again at the end of 2017, when Surrey 
County Council’s Cabinet agreed on 28 November 2017 a new Travel 
Assistance Policy for children and young people with special educational needs 
and disabilities (SEND). The draft policy document was subject to public 
consultation in advance of that decision being made and the outcome of the 
consultation was reported to Cabinet.   Under its new policy, Cabinet decided 
that the Council could charge a contribution towards home to school/college 
travel costs for eligible young people with an Education, Health and Care plan 
(EHCP) who are aged 16-18 (also referred to as Post 16 learners with SEND).  
Cabinet, however, agreed that the Council would not make a charge in the 
academic year 2018/19.  Cabinet delegated authority to the Cabinet Member 
responsible for education, in consultation with the Assistant Director 
responsible for education, to approve future changes to the Council’s Travel 
Assistance Policy, including the implementation of charging for Post 16 learners 
with SEND.  

4. In January 2019, independent analysts conducted a review of SEND travel 
assistance for the Council that demonstrated that Surrey County Council is an 
outlier with regard to provision of transport for non-statutory school aged 
children and young people with SEND, those in pre-school and Post 16 year 
olds.  The benchmarking confirmed that, of the local authorities that continue to 
provide transport for Post 16 year old young people, all charge for this 
provision.  The fees charged vary by local authority and are in line with the 
charges for home to school transport for Post 16 young people without SEND.

5. The Council’s own analysis in January 2019 indicated that 662 Post 16 SEND 
learners were receiving transport support in academic year 2018/19, at a 
monthly cost of £536k and an annual cost of £5.1m.  This is an average cost 
per learner of £7,704 per academic year.  Nearly one third were travelling on 
their own in a taxi.  

6. On 31 January 2020, the Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning agreed a Home 
to School/College Travel and Transport Policy for implementation from 
September 2020.  The policy aims to improve outcomes for children and young 
people in Surrey, particularly those with SEND.  The policy is intended to make 
sure the Council continues to be able to deliver its statutory responsibilities.  
However, our analysis and comparisons with other local authorities indicates 
that previous poor practice and culture have been driving poor outcomes for 
children and young people in Surrey as well as high costs.  

7. The policy also responds to engagement with young people with SEND in 
Surrey which confirmed that young people value independence highly, and that 
they want their parents, schools and the services that support them to help 
them prepare for adulthood, including continued access to education, 
employment opportunities and access to essential services and activities in the 

Page 7



community.  The ability to travel independently is important to them now to 
attend school, participate in community life and socialise with friends; it is also 
fundamental to their future ambitions. Through the policy, the Council is more 
strongly supporting independence.  

8. In approving the policy in January 2020, the Cabinet Member took into account 
the analysis of the responses to the public consultation which took place 
towards the end of 2019 , the equality impact assessment and the mitigations of 
key concerns and impacts, and agreed the recommended policy option that, in 
line with statutory responsibilities, Surrey County Council will cease to provide 
home to school/college travel assistance for young people ages 17 -18, unless 
exceptional circumstances apply.   The Council will continue to promote the use 
of the Student Fare Card Scheme, 16-17 Saver and Disabled Person’s Bus 
Pass Scheme, which offer discounted travel on bus and rail services, to all Post 
16 year old students. The Council’s policy from September 2020 reflects this 
decision.

9. This report sets out the rationale for the implementation of charging a 
contribution for Post 16 travel assistance for SEND learners, in line with the 
financial contribution that is made by Post 16 learners without SEND.  It sets 
out the steps the Council will take to consider delaying, reducing or waiving 
contributions for young people or families in severe financial hardship.  

Levels of charging:

10. Benchmarking indicates that charges for Post 16 travel assistance vary by local 
authority.  One large county council charges on a sliding scale based on the 
distance between home and school/college for the learner (£600 - £1,330 per 
academic year).  The local authority reduces or waives the fee for low income 
families in receipt of benefits.  Another charges a flat rate of £900, with a 
reduced rate of £450 for low income families in receipt of benefit.  One large 
county expects all Post 16 learners with travel assistance to purchase a 
discounted travel card for public transport, costing £400.  Another charges 
£660, with a reduced rate for low income families of £330.  

11. As this is discretionary provision, local authorities are able to introduce charges 
that reflect a reasonable assessment of the cost of provision as well as 
affordability for families and young people.   There is no universal or 
government directed charging structure for Post 16 travel assistance. 

12. In May 2011, Cabinet agreed that transport charges for Post 16 learners would 
be aligned with the concessionary fare rate, and that the concessionary fare 
should be increased with the rate of inflation each year (the lower of Consumer 
Price Index and Retail Price Index).  

13. In academic year 2020/21, the Council will be charging the small number of 
eligible Post 16 learners without SEND the following charges:

£547.20 for learners whose families are in receipt of the maximum Working Tax 
Credit and /or who continue to meet the eligibility criteria for Free School Meals; 
learners in care; care leavers; those on Income Support/Universal Credit in their 
own right; disabled young people who receive Employment Support 

Page 8



Allowance/Universal Credit and either Disability Living Allowance or Personal 
Independence Payment in their name, or 

£756.20 for all other learners.

14. These charges are calculated on the basis on a daily rate of £2.88 and £3.98 
respectively.  The benefit and other entitlements for eligibility for the lower 
charge are widely used by government and other local authorities to identify low 
income households.  

15. The recommendation is that the Council introduces the same charges for Post 
16 learners with an EHCP for academic year 2020/21 on the basis of 
consistency, fairness and affordability. These charges reflect a modest 
contribution when compared to the actual average cost of transport for SEND 
post 16 learners, which in academic year 2018/19 was £7,704 per learner.   

Considerations of severe financial hardship:

16. Ordinarily, the Council will expect, where a Post 16 learner with an EHCP is 
deemed eligible for travel assistance under exceptional circumstances, that the 
parents/carers or young person pay a financial contribution toward the cost of 
transport.  As set out above, the two rates of charges provide a reduced 
contribution for families with a low household income.   The charges are 
reasonable in comparison with charges made by other local authorities and the 
cost of providing the transport, are predictable, and can be paid in termly 
instalments.  

17. However, in recognition that there may be circumstances where families or a 
young person experience severe financial hardship, the Council has discretion 
to consider delaying, reducing or waiving the charge.  

18. In order to be eligible for consideration, the parent/carers or young person must 
demonstrate the following by way of evidence:

 That the charge is not affordable because they would not be able to meet 
their essential living needs by the payment of the charge, and

 that they have applied for a government 16-19 bursary, and where available, 
their provider’s emergency hardship fund, and been 
refused.https://www.gov.uk/1619-bursary-fund/further-information

19. To apply, the parent/carer or young person must provide details of the financial 
circumstances of the household which evidence the criteria in paragraph 19, 
and evidence of application to national and local bursary and hardship 
schemes.   

20. In making a decision, the Council will consider whether the financial hardship is 
likely to be temporary, and therefore if it is reasonable to delay or extend the 
period over which the charge will be made.  The Council will consider reducing 
the charge to a level that is reasonable to enable the family/young person to 
meet their essential living needs.  Where there is evidence that the financial 
hardship is likely to be long-lasting and severe, the Council will consider 
waiving the charge entirely.

Page 9

https://www.gov.uk/1619-bursary-fund/further-information


Procedural updates 
  
21. Since the new Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy was agreed 

on 31 January 2020, and published on the Council’s website in February 2020, 
a small number of grammatical inconsistencies and errors in the policy wording 
have come to light.  In addition, feedback from families indicates that 
communication about some of the processes for applying could be made 
clearer for parents and carers. To address these issues, and on the basis that 
they do not change policy only clarify it, the Cabinet Member is asked to note 
and agree that following minor amendments to the policy wording which will be 
updated through the information provided on the Council’s website:

Para 5.1:  To replace the sentence ‘Where circumstances exist where the 
Council determines that travel assistance is necessary it may apply its 
discretionary powers on a case by case basis.’ with the sentence ‘ However, 
the Council will consider transport assistance applications for children below 
statutory school age in extenuating circumstances.’  

Para 5.2:  To replace the word ‘exceptional’ with ‘extenuating’. 

Para 5.1 and 5.2:  To remove the sentences ‘The Council makes this 
determination through the special consideration and appeals process set out in 
Section 4.8.’ and replace with the sentence ‘Where a parent/carer believes that 
there are extenuating circumstances that warrant a child being provided with 
transport before they turn five years of age, they should complete the 
application form and provide supporting evidence of the case’.

Para 7:  Remove the words in bold in the sentence ‘If there is a family member 
or carer who is willing and able to transport the student and if not, why it 
would not be possible or reasonable for them to do so’.  This is to clarify 
that while the Council can enquire about other arrangements, it cannot require 
parents or carers to transport their adult children. 

22. Officers will amend spelling and grammatical errors in the policy as they are 
identified rather than through a Cabinet Member decision.

Implementation timetable:

23. Taking into account the benchmarking analysis, the equality impact assessment 
(Annex A), the mitigations for severe financial hardship and the relevant 
legislation, the recommended implementation timetable for the implementation 
of these charges is for September 2020 (academic year 2020/21).  Subject to 
Cabinet Member decision, the charges would be updated in the Council’s policy 
and website, along with the procedural updates.    

CONSULTATION:

24. The Council undertook extensive consultation and engagement prior to the 
Cabinet decision on 28 November 2017 to permit the reintroduction of charging 
for travel assistance for Post 16 learners with an EHCP.  Cabinet agreed, in 
taking account of the consultation responses and the equalities impact 
assessment, that the charge would not be introduced in academic year 2018/19 
for these learners so that these learners and their families would have time to 
understand better the differences in law and entitlement for children and young 
people of statutory school age (ages 5-16), Post 16 (ages 16-18) and Post 19 

Page 10



(ages 19-25).  The Cabinet decision is available at the following link: 
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=5112&
Ver=4

25. The Council also undertook extensive consultation and engagement prior to the 
Cabinet Member decision on 31 January 2020 to agree a new Home to 
School/College Travel and Transport Policy for implementation from September 
2020.  The new policy is clear about the different statutory entitlements for 
travel assistance by age, and how the Council will use its discretion and 
consider exceptional circumstances. The Cabinet Member decision is available 
at the following link: 
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=717&MId=7327&
Ver=4

26. The Council has not undertaken an additional public consultation on the 
implementation of charging as this was the subject of extensive consultation in 
2017, and the feedback informed the Cabinet decision at that time.   The 
perceived injustice between Post 16 and Post 19 learners with SEND, identified 
in the EIA for that decision, has now been addressed and mitigated and are 
reflected in the EIA at Annex A of this report.    

27. The recommendations in this report were shared with Family Voice Surrey with 
an invitation to submit feedback and views to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration prior to her decision.  The proposed procedural update of 
paragraph 7 of the new policy is as a result of feedback from Family Voice in 
May 2020.   

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

28. The Council’s Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy is a county-
wide policy which will apply equally to all districts and boroughs and electoral 
divisions.  The policy and the practice that results from it are intended to be 
consistent across all districts and boroughs and should enable greater 
consistency of practice and equity of provision of home to school travel 
assistance.  The implementation of charging should be seen as an extension of 
the Council’s policy intention to encourage the use of more environmentally 
sustainable forms of transport, supporting young people to walk, cycle and use 
public transport such as local buses and trains.  

29. The implementation timetable implements charging arrangements that are 
predictable for the family or young person and that are set at a reasonable level 
for which they can reasonably budget.  For those families in severe hardship, 
the Council can use its discretion to consider delaying, reducing or waiving the 
charge.

Financial and value for money implications:

30. Provision of home to school transport for Post 16 learners is discretionary, and 
the Council’s policy is that it will be provided for Post 16 SEND learners in 
exceptional circumstances.  

Page 11

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=5112&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=5112&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=717&MId=7327&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=717&MId=7327&Ver=4


31. Based on a reasonable set of assumptions that 650 Post 16 SEND learners will 
apply for travel assistance for academic year 2020/21; that 50% will be deemed 
eligible under exceptional circumstances (325 learners); that 49% of these (159 
learners) will pay the higher charge; that 49% of these (159 learners) will pay 
the lower charge; that 2% of these (7 learners) will have their charges waived, 
over the academic year, the reintroduction of charging would generate income 
of around £200k.

32. Expenditure on home to school transport for children with SEND in 2019/20 
was £34.5m, an overspend of £2.9m.  Unlike other elements of SEND 
expenditure, this is not funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant High Needs 
Block so is a direct cost to the General fund.  

33. To ensure the effective delivery of the Council’s statutory responsibilities for 
home to school travel and transport for children and young people, changes 
have to be made.  Surrey County Council has to make difficult choices in 
straitened financial circumstances in order to secure effective public spending 
and the efficient use of public resources. 

34. There are no specific MTFS efficiencies in place for home to school transport, 
however in addition to the £2.9m overspend on SEND transport, there were 
further overspends within school transport resulting in an overall overspend of 
£3.9m in 2019/20.  There is therefore a need to bring this overspend in line with 
available resources.

Section 151 Officer commentary: 

35. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to 
improve the Council’s financial position, the medium term financial outlook is 
uncertain as it is heavily dependent on decisions made by Central Government. 
With no clarity on these beyond 2020/21, our working assumption is that 
financial resources will continue to be constrained, as they have been for the 
majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to 
consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure stable 
provision of services in the medium term. As such, the Section 151 Officer 
supports the proposed implementation of charging and associated 
recommendations within this report.

Legal implications – Monitoring Officer:

36. There is no duty to provide free home to school/college travel assistance to 
Post 16 learners. Any transport provided by the Council is discretionary and 
does not have to be free of charge.

37. The Cabinet has previously made the decision that the Council may charge a 
contribution towards the cost of the provision of transport. The Cabinet Member 
is now being asked to approve the levels of charges to be applied and the 
process by which parents and carers can seek to have the charges delayed, 
reduced or waived. 

Page 12



38. The Council owes a fiduciary duty to its council tax payers which is analogous 
to that owed by trustees looking after property that belongs to others. 
Accordingly, in deciding how money should be spent, the Cabinet Member 
should take into account the interests of residents who have contributed to the 
Council’s income and balance those interests against those who benefit from 
the expenditure. To assist the Cabinet Member in considering this, the report 
provides information about the cost of providing transport and some detail as to 
the level of fees charged by other authorities

39. Under S175 Education Act 2002, the Council must ensure that the functions 
conferred on it in its capacity as a local education authority are exercised with a 
view to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children. The Cabinet 
Member must therefore consider these aspects and be satisfied that this duty is 
met.

40. The public sector equality duty applies to this decision. There is a need to have 
due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity for people with 
protected characteristics, foster good relations between such groups and 
eliminate any unlawful discrimination. These matters are dealt with in 
paragraphs 41 onwards of this report and in the equality impact assessment 
which is provided with this report. The Cabinet member will see that negative 
impacts have been identified and when reaching her decision, she will need to 
take account of these and any mitigating actions. The Cabinet Member will also 
note that the proposed level of fees for learners with SEND mirror those 
charged to learners who do not have SEND.

Equalities and diversity:

41. The Council’s prime outcomes through its home to school/college travel 
assistance policy are the promotion of independence and preparation for 
adulthood for children and young people, more efficient use of public resources 
and enabling the Council to continue to deliver its statutory responsibilities for 
home to school transport.  

42. The Council’s Equality Impact Assessment (Annex A) identified both potential 
negative and positive impacts for the Post 16 learners with an EHCP and their 
families.  The main potential negative impact is financial pressure on household 
budgets.  The main potential positive impact for these learners is incentivising 
them to attend local provision and to learn to travel more independently, thus 
preparing them for adulthood.

43. The Council will mitigate the potential negative impact on Post 16 SEND 
learners by communicating the charges widely to young people and their 
families through the Surrey Local Offer and Surrey County Council website, 
through schools and directly to parents and carers and young people. This will 
enable them to prepare and budget accordingly, including through applying for 
national and provider bursary and hardship funds.   The Council will use its 
discretion to consider delaying, reducing or waiving the charge for families 
experiencing severe financial hardship.   

44. Based on the Council’s analysis of historic applications for travel assistance 
from Post 16 SEND learners, the approximate number of young people likely to 
be affected by the introduction of charging from September 2020 are:

Page 13



 Higher rate – up to159 young people
 Lower rate – up to 159 young people
 Reduced/waived rate – up to 7 young people

45. In the Council’s EIA for the Cabinet decision in November 2017, the Council 
identified a risk that, as the law requires travel arrangements for eligible adult 
learners (age 19-25) with an EHCP to be made free of charge, an introduction 
of a contribution for the 16-18 age group would create perceived inconsistency, 
and could cause confusion for families and young people.   In order to mitigate 
risk and to allow families and young people to understand the differences in law 
the Cabinet agreed that charges for travel assistance for Post 16 SEND 
learners would not be introduced in academic year 2018/19.  

46. In January 2019, the Department for Education updated the statutory guidance 
published in 2017 related to Post-16 transport and travel support to education 
and training.  This provided further clarification on the sixth form age and adult 
duties, including clearer explanation for local authorities, parents and young 
people of when each applies. Additionally, during the Council’s consultation and 
engagement in Autumn 2019 on its proposed new policy, the different statutory 
responsibilities for different age groups were explained extensively and the 
responsibilities were set out clearly in the new policy adopted from September 
2020.  On this basis, the Council considers that the risk identified in the 2017 
EIA has been sufficiently mitigated.  

Other implications:

47. The potential implications for the following Council priorities and policy areas 
have been considered. Where the impact is potentially significant a summary of 
the issues is set out in detail below.

Area assessed: Direct Implications:
Corporate Parenting/Looked After 
Children

No significant implications arising 
from this report

Safeguarding responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and adults  

Set out below.

Environmental sustainability Set out below.

Public Health Set out below.

Safeguarding responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults implications:

48. The Council will continue to ensure that, where it provides home to school 
transport for a young person, it is safe.

Environmental sustainability implications:

49. The Council’s policy will encourage the use of more environmentally 
sustainable forms of transport, supporting young people to walk, cycle and use 
public transport such as local buses and trains.

Page 14



Public Health implications:

50. Walking and cycling are healthy travel options and promoting independence 
provides mental health benefits.

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT:

51. Subject to decision making, the charges will be published in the Council’s Post 
16 Transport Policy Statement and communicated widely to young people and 
their families through the Surrey Local Offer, through schools and settings and 
directly with families.

52. Subject to decision making, the charges will be implemented for academic year 
2020/21 which begins in September 2020, with payment introduced on a termly 
basis.  

53. Subject to decision making, the criteria and process for applying for the charge 
to be delayed, reduced or waived in cases of severe financial hardship will be 
published in the Council’s Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy 
and on the Council’s website in June 2020.  

54. Subject to decision making, the procedural updates to the Council’s Home to 
School/College Travel and Transport Policy will be made in June 2020.  

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Contact Officer:
Mary Burguieres, Assistant Director for Systems and Transformation – Education, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture, mary.burguieres@surreycc.gov.uk

Consulted:

Leader
Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning
Family Voice Surrey

Annexes:

Annex A:  Equality Impact Assessment

Sources/background papers:

Cabinet Report 28 November 2017 – New Send Travel Assistance Policy for 
Children and Young People with an EHCP or Statement of Special Educational 
Needs, 0-25

Cabinet Report 16 July 2019 – Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
Travel Assistance

Page 15

mailto:mary.burguieres@surreycc.gov.uk


Cabinet Member Report 31 January 2020 – Home to School/College Travel and 
Transport Policy 

Consultation Information & Papers – https://www.surreysays.co.uk/csf/home-
to-school-college-travel-and-transport-policy/

Consultation Introductory Video –
https://youtu.be/xLIjELp4NIM 

Relevant Home to School/College Travel & Transport Legislation:
Education Act 1996 section 508A (duty to promote sustainable modes of travel)
Education Act 1996 section 508B (travel arrangements for eligible children)
Education Act 1996 section 508C (travel arrangements for other children)
Education Act 1996 section 508E and Schedule 35C (school travel schemes)
Education Act 1996 section 508F (local authorities in England: provision of transport 
for adult learners)
Education Act 1996 section 508G (local authorities in England: transport policy 
statements for young adults subject to learning difficulty assessment)
Education Act 1996 section 509AA (transport etc for persons of sixth form age)
Regulation 5 and Part 2 of Schedule 2 to The School Information (England) 
Regulations 2002 (as amended)

Department for Education - Home to School Travel and Transport Statutory 
Guidance - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-
travel-and-transport-guidance 

Department for Education - Transport to education and training for people aged 
16 and over -https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/post-16-transport-to-
education-and-training

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 16

https://www.surreysays.co.uk/csf/home-to-school-college-travel-and-transport-policy/
https://www.surreysays.co.uk/csf/home-to-school-college-travel-and-transport-policy/
https://youtu.be/xLIjELp4NIM
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance


Annex A

What policy, function or 
service change are you 
assessing?

The policy change being assessed is the implementation 
of charging a financial contribution for Post 16 learners 
with an Education, Health and Care plan (EHCP) who 
receive home to school/college travel assistance from 
Surrey County Council.    

The review of this policy aimed to:
 
 ensure it continues to deliver its statutory 

responsibilities; 
 consider the level of financial contribution that is fair; 
 consider ways in which to protect learners or families 

in severe financial hardship. 

Why does this EIA need to be 
completed?

Proposals could have an impact on individuals with 
protected characteristics. The EIA is necessary to 
understand any potential impact and necessary 
mitigation that is required.

The protected characteristics identified are:

 Age
 Disability

Who is affected by the 
proposals outlined above?

Stakeholders who may be affected include:
 Young people with an EHCP who are 16 - 18 

years old
 Parents/carers
 Schools and colleges

The main stakeholders who will be impacted by the 
proposed reintroduction of charges are Post 16 learners 
with an ECHP and their families.  

How does your service 
proposal support the 
outcomes in the Community 
Vision for Surrey 2030?

The Community Vision for Surrey 2030 outcomes that 
are linked to the service and proposals are:

 Children and young people are safe and feel safe 
and confident 

EIA Title Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy 
Changes

Did you use the EIA 
Screening Tool? 
(Please tick or specify)

Yes
(Please attach upon 

submission)
No X

1.  Explaining the matter being assessed

Page 17

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/185211/Community-Vision-Org-Strategy.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/185211/Community-Vision-Org-Strategy.pdf


Page 2 of 16

 Everyone benefits from education, skills and 
employment opportunities that help them succeed 
in life 

 Everyone lives healthy, active and fulfilling lives, 
and makes good choices about their wellbeing 

 Journeys across the county are easier, more 
predictable and safer 

County Wide X Runnymede  
Elmbridge Spelthorne
Epsom and Ewell Surrey Heath
Guildford Tandridge
Mole Valley Waverley
Reigate and Banstead Woking

Not Applicable

Are there any specific 
geographies in Surrey where 
this will make an impact?
(Please tick or specify)

County Divisions (please specify if appropriate): 

Briefly list what evidence 
you have gathered on the 
impact of your proposals? 

A range of local evidence and benchmarking with other 
areas has been undertaken to understand the impact of 
the proposals and establish best practice used by other 
local authorities. Evidence gathered includes:

 DfE Home to College Transport Guidance
 Service review and performance monitoring
 Local authority benchmarking (statistical 

neighbours)
 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

reports related to home to school transport

Extensive benchmarking with other local authorities was 
carried out to review other local authorities’ home to 
school transport policies and provision. This established 
that the majority of local authorities apply an annual 
contributory charge to the parents of children and young 
people in receipt of post-16 home to school transport 
provision, both with an EHCP and without, to support the 
costs to the local authority for the provision of this 
transport.  In addition, Surrey County Council previously 
charged for travel assistance for Post 16 learners with 
an EHCP.  Some local authorities have reduced their 
discretionary offer and no longer provide travel 
assistance once a young person is in Year 12 (Post 16 
education).

Page 18



Page 3 of 16

There are 10 protected characteristics to consider in your proposal. These are:

1. Age including younger and older people
2. Disability
3. Gender reassignment
4. Pregnancy and maternity
5. Race including ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality
6. Religion or belief including lack of belief
7. Sex
8. Sexual orientation
9. Marriage/civil partnerships
10.Carers protected by association

Though not included in the Equality Act 2010, Surrey County Council recognises that socio-economic disadvantage is a significant 
contributor to inequality across the County and therefore regards this as an additional factor. 

Therefore, if relevant, you will need to include information on this. Please refer to the EIA guidance if you are unclear as to what this is.

2.  Service Users / Residents

P
age 19



Page 4 of 16

AGE

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic?

Post 16:  In academic year 2019/20 there are 465 16 – 19 year old young people who receive home to college travel assistance.  452 
have an EHCP.  The Council is spending approximately £3.7million on this discretionary provision.  

Impacts
(Please tick or 
specify)

Positive Negative Both X

Impacts identified Supporting evidence
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise negative 
impacts?

When will this be 
implemented by? Owner

What impacts have you 
identified?

What are you basing this 
on?

Actions to mitigate or 
enhance impacts Due date Who is responsible 

for this?

Post 16 young people and 
families may struggle to pay the 
charge if they have not budgeted 
for it in their household finances. 
This may put additional financial 
pressures on low income 
families and/or may result in 
post 16 places not being taken 
up. (Negative)

Feedback from families; 
research from other local 
authorities who have 
introduced charges for 
Post 16 transport.

Engage and communicate 
with families and young 
people during the Summer 
term through the Surrey 
Local Offer and Surrey 
County Council website, 
through schools and directly 
to parents and carers and 
young people. 

This will enable them to 
prepare and budget 
accordingly, including 
through applying for national 

Charges 
introduced from 
September 2020 – 
termly payments of 
on third of charge

Independent travel 
training from 
September 2020

Claire Potier
Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 20



Page 5 of 16

and provider bursary and 
hardship funds. 

The Council will introduce a 
discounted charge for 
families on low incomes and 
in receipt of certain benefits 
to reduce the financial impact 
on these families.  

The Council will use its 
discretion to consider 
delaying, reducing or waiving 
the charge for families 
experiencing severe financial 
hardship.   

Work with schools and 
families to identify cost 
effective travel options and 
support to enable access to 
placement.  

Where appropriate, work with 
schools and families from 
September 2020 to develop 
and enable independent 
travel opportunities.

Promote independent travel 
training and discounted 
public transport options for 
post 16 students.

P
age 21



Page 6 of 16

Post 16 young people and their 
families may be confused at a 
perceived inconsistency in the 
law that requires travel 
arrangements for eligible adult 
learners (age 19-25) with an 
EHCP to be made free of charge 
while the law allows for local 
authorities to introduction of a 
contribution for the 16-18 age 
group. (Negative impact)

Feedback from families 
during the 2017 
consultation on the 
Council’s new travel 
assistance policy for 
children and young people 
with an EHCP 

In January 2019, the 
Department for Education 
updated the statutory 
guidance published in 2017 
related to Post-16 transport 
and travel support to 
education and training.  This 
provided further clarification 
on the sixth form age and 
adult duties, including clearer 
explanation for local 
authorities, parents and 
young people of when each 
applies.  

During the Council’s 
consultation and engagement 
in Autumn 2019 on its 
proposed new policy, the 
different statutory 
responsibilities for different 
age groups were explained 
extensively and the 
responsibilities were set out 
clearly in the new policy 
adopted from September 
2020.   

Charges 
introduced from 
September 2020 – 
termly payments of 
on third of charge

Claire Potier
Eamonn Gilbert

May incentivise more Post 16 
students to study locally which 
enables the development of 
stronger local support networks 
and reduces the need to travel 
long distances, promotes use of 

Feedback from families; 
research from other local 
authorities 

The Council will continue as 
part of its placement strategy 
to develop and extend the 
local post 16 offer for both 
pupils with and without SEND 
to provide sufficient provision.

Continuation of 
current policy Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 22



Page 7 of 16

cheaper and more 
environmentally friendly public 
transport and walking/cycling 
and promotes independence, 
providing for an easier transition 
into adulthood.  (Positive)

The Council will continue to 
promote subsidised public 
transport, cycling and walking 
routes.  etc  

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents? 
Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of

The Council is already undertaking extensive work with Post 16 establishments to improve the study programmes available locally, 
ensuring improved choice of study locally rather than courses that require considerable travel in order to access them.

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why
All negative impacts can be mitigated

DISABILITY

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic?

P
age 23



Page 8 of 16

Post 16:  In academic year 2019/20 there are 465 16 – 19 year old young people who receive home to college travel assistance.  452 
have an EHCP.  The Council is spending approximately £3.7million on this discretionary provision.  

Impacts
(Please tick or 
specify)

Positive Negative Both X

Impacts identified Supporting evidence
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise negative 
impacts?

When will this be 
implemented by? Owner

What impacts have you 
identified?

What are you basing this 
on?

Actions to mitigate or 
enhance impacts Due date Who is responsible 

for this?

Post 16 disabled young people 
and families may struggle to pay 
the charge if they have not 
budgeted for it in their household 
finances. This may put additional 
financial pressures on families of 
young people with a disability 
and/or may result in post 16 
places not being taken up. 
(Negative)

Feedback from families; 
research from other local 
authorities who have 
introduced charges for 
Post 16 transport

Engage and communicate 
with families and young 
people during the Summer 
term through the Surrey 
Local Offer and Surrey 
County Council website, 
through schools and directly 
to parents and carers and 
young people. 

This will enable them to 
prepare and budget 
accordingly, including 
through applying for national 
and provider bursary and 
hardship funds. 

Charges 
introduced from 
September 2020 – 
termly payments of 
on third of charge

Independent travel 
training from 
September 2020

Claire Potier
Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 24



Page 9 of 16

The Council will introduce a 
discounted charge for 
disabled young people who 
receive Employment Support 
Allowance/Universal Credit 
and either Disability Living 
Allowance or Personal 
Independence Payment in 
their name to reduce the 
financial impact on these 
families.  

The Council will use its 
discretion to consider 
delaying, reducing or waiving 
the charge for families 
experiencing severe financial 
hardship.   

Work with schools and 
families to identify cost 
effective travel options and 
support to enable access to 
placement.  

Where appropriate, work with 
schools and families from 
September 2020 to develop 
and enable independent 
travel opportunities.

Promote independent travel 
training and discounted 
public transport options for 

P
age 25



Page 10 of 16

post 16 students with a 
disability.

Young people will be given 
the opportunity to learn the 
necessary skills to travel 
independently at their own 
pace and will reflect the 
specific route and 
environment they will be 
expected to use. 

Schools and families and the 
young person will have the 
opportunity to feedback 
during the training process to 
establish when the young 
person is suitable to begin 
travelling independently.

As part of the training, young 
people will be assessed as to 
whether they can 
demonstrate and understand 
how to deal with situations 
where unplanned situations 
present themselves and how 
to maintain their safety. 

Post 16 disabled young people 
and their families may be 
confused at a perceived 
inconsistency in the law that 
requires travel arrangements for 

Feedback from families 
during the 2017 
consultation on the 
Council’s new travel 
assistance policy for 

In January 2019, the 
Department for Education 
updated the statutory 
guidance published in 2017 
related to Post-16 transport 

Charges 
introduced from 
September 2020 – 
termly payments of 
on third of charge

Claire Potier
Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 26



Page 11 of 16

eligible adult learners (age 19-
25) with an EHCP to be made 
free of charge while the law 
allows for local authorities to 
introduction of a contribution for 
the 16-18 age group. (Negative 
impact)

children and young people 
with an EHCP

and travel support to 
education and training.  This 
provided further clarification 
on the sixth form age and 
adult duties, including clearer 
explanation for local 
authorities, parents and 
young people of when each 
applies.  

During the Council’s 
consultation and engagement 
in Autumn 2019 on its 
proposed new policy, the 
different statutory 
responsibilities for different 
age groups were explained 
extensively and the 
responsibilities were set out 
clearly in the new policy 
adopted from September 
2020

May incentivise more Post 16 
students with a disability to study 
locally which enables the 
development of stronger local 
support networks and reduces 
the need to travel long 
distances, promotes use of 
cheaper and more 
environmentally friendly public 
transport and walking/cycling 
and promotes independence, 

Feedback from families; 
research from other local 
authorities

The Council will continue as 
part of its placement strategy 
to develop and extend the 
local post 16 offer for both 
pupils with and without SEND 
to provide sufficient provision.
The Council will continue to 
promote subsidised public 
transport, cycling and walking 
routes.  etc  

Continuation of 
current policy Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 27



Page 12 of 16

providing for an easier transition 
into adulthood.  (Positive)

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents? 
Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of

The Council continues to work with transport providers to ensure that drivers and the service can appropriately support service users 
with disabilities and enable greater access to services and the wider community.

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why
All negative impacts can be mitigated

P
age 28



CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE
What changes have you made as a result of 

this EIA? Why have these changes been made?

The Council will make clear in the policy 
that it will use its discretion to consider 
delaying, reducing or waiving the charge for 
families or a young person in severe 
financial hardship.  The Council will promote 
widely the national and provider financial 
hardship funds which provide financial 
support for transport to Post 16 
establishments.  

These changes have been made to reduce the 
financial pressure on families who may not 

have budgeted for this charge in their 
household finances, or families that are 
experiencing severe financial hardship.

Continuing to keep the impact of the 
charges under review.

To ensure that the charges remain affordable 
as well as reflecting the cost of provision.  

 
Based your assessment, please indicate which course of action you are recommending to 
decision makers. You should explain your recommendation in the in the blank box below.

Outcome Number Description Tick

Outcome One
No major change to the policy/service/function required. 
This EIA has not identified any potential for discrimination or 
negative impact, and all opportunities to promote equality 
have been undertaken

Outcome Two
Adjust the policy/service/function to remove barriers 
identified by the EIA or better advance equality.  Are you 
satisfied that the proposed adjustments will remove the 
barriers you identified?

X

Outcome Three

Continue the policy/service/function despite potential for 
negative impact or missed opportunities to advance equality 
identified.  You will need to make sure the EIA clearly sets out 
the justifications for continuing with it.  You need to consider 
whether there are:

 Sufficient plans to stop or minimise the negative impact
 Mitigating actions for any remaining negative impacts 

plans to monitor the actual impact. 

Outcome Four

Stop and rethink the policy when the EIA shows actual or 
potential unlawful discrimination
(For guidance on what is unlawful discrimination, refer to the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission’s guidance and Codes of Practice on the Equality Act 
concerning employment, goods and services and equal pay, available here).

3.  Amendments to the proposals

5.  Recommendation

Page 29

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice


Page 14 of 16

Please use the box on 
the right to explain the 
rationale for your 
recommendation

The proposals ensure that Surrey County Council delivers it statutory 
obligations in relation to Home to School/College Travel and 
Transport. This will impact on the identified stakeholders in both 
negative and positive ways.  Where a negative impact is experienced 
that restricts an individual’s attendance at School/College then the 
Council retains its right to review each case individually to consider a 
discretionary change to the charge.

Page 30



Page 15 of 16

Version Number Purpose/Change Author Date
V1.0 1st draft Mary Burguieres 25 May 2020

The above provides historical data about each update made to the Equality Impact Assessment.
Please do include the name of the author, date and notes about changes made – so that you 
are able to refer back to what changes have been made throughout this iterative process. 
For further information, please see the EIA Guidance document on version control.

Name Date approved
Head of Service, Liz Mills 29.05.20

Executive Director, Dave Hill 29.05.20
Approved by*

EIA Author Mary Burguieres 

*Secure approval from the appropriate level of management based on nature of issue and scale 
of change being assessed.

Name Job Title Organisation Team Role

Mary Burguieres
Assistant Director, 
Systems and 
Transformation

Surrey County 
Council Programme sponsor

Deborah Chantler Legal Surrey County 
Council Legal adviser

If you would like this information in large print, Braille, on CD or in another language please 
contact us on:

Tel: 03456 009 009
Textphone (via Text Relay): 18001 03456 009 009
SMS: 07860 053 465

6b. Approval

6a. Version Control

6c. EIA Team

Page 31



Page 16 of 16

Email: contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk

Page 32

mailto:contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Charging for Home to School/College Travel Assistance for Post 16 learners with SEND
	Annex A charging for home to school_college travel assistance Post 16 SEND EIA final (003)


